1954

State of Utah v. Charles Lee Mitchell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The Court erred in refusing to quash the complaint.

2. The Court erred in refusing to quash the information.

3. The Court erred in refusing to direct an acquittal.

4. Errors of law occurring at the trial.

To sustain this appeal the defendant relies on the following:

PROPOSITIONS OF LAW

I.

A PRELIMINARY COMPLAINT ISSUED BY A DISTRICT ATTORNEY IN UTAH IS VOID.

II.

IN A CRIMINAL PROSECUTION, THE BURDEN IS ON THE STATE TO PROVE THE VENUE OF THE COURT IN WHICH THE TRIAL IS HELD.

III.

THE PRESUMPTION OF OWNERSHIP ARISING FROM POSSESSION CANNOT BE INDULGED IN A CRIMINAL PROCEEDING IN

OPPOSITION TO THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE.

IV.

COLLATERAL OFFENSES, NOT DIRECTLY CONNECTED WITH THE SUBJECT UNDER INVESTIGATION, ARE INADMISSIBLE IN A CRIMINAL PROSECUTION.

V.

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT AND JUDGMENT.

ARGUMENT

I.

A preliminary complaint issued by a District Attorney in Utah is void.

Utah Constitution, Art. I, Section 7
XIV Amendment, U. S. Constitution
Utah Code, Section 77-12-1
State vs Beddo, 63 P 96
State vs Morrey, 64 P 764
State vs Burkner, 64 P 1118
State vs Merritt, 247 P 497
Connors vs Pratt, 112 P 399
State vs Morse, 75 P 739
State vs Green, 6 P 2nd 177
Beasley vs State, 224 P 376
Jones vs Comm. 108 SW 2nd 816
Fullingin vs State, 123 P 558

Article I, Section 7, of the Utah Constitution provides that no person shall be deprived of his liberty without due process of law, and the XIV Amendment to the United States Constitution forbids any

State from depriving any person within its jurisdiction of his liberty without due process of law or to deny to such person the equal protection of the law.

In Jones vs Commonwealth, supra, it is said:

"Due process of law can not mean less than a prosecution instituted and conducted according to the forms and solemnities prescribed by the legislature for ascertaining the guilt of the accused."

Section 77-12-1, Utah Code 1953, provides the first step to be taken in ascertaining the guilt of an accused in Utah. This section provides, in substance, for the filing of a complaint before a magistrate. Section 77-10-4 defines a magistrate as: "An officer having power to issue a warrant for the arrest of a person charged with a public offense." Section 77-10-5 enumerates magistrates as follows: (1) Justices of the Supreme Court, (2) Judges of the District Courts, (3) Judges of City Courts, (4) Justices of the Peace.

If the complaint so made is not made by the County Attorney himself, it must be submitted to the County Attorney for his approval before a warrant shall issue.

In this case the complaint (R 2) shows on its face that it was not made by the County Attorney. It also

shows on its face that it was approved by the District Attorney.

The defendant made timely objections to this procedure, R 150.

The County Attorney attempted to justify this procedure by stating, R 151.

"Your honor and counsel, I don't believe that there's been a technical violation at all in the issuing of the complaint. It's true I did not sign the complaint when it was made out, for the reason that I was not here, I was in Montana at the time where the defendant was apprehended, and I telephoned-- If you so wish, I can put the testimony of the District Attorney on to show I telephoned him to make the complaint, and the District Attorney, upon my authorization, made the complaint out and signed it. And a warrant was issued and also, your honor, I also appeared over there at the arraignment and appeared before the court, and I think that in itself is an approval by the County Attorney of the complaint issued at the time. But it was primarily issued at my direction and the direction not of the District Attorney. Mr. Calderwood is here if you desire to have him testify to the conversation.

MR. OLIVER: The statute does not authorize any such procedure. I'll submit it."

The magistrate seems to have ruled on the theory that the County Attorney's procedure was justified under the circumstances, R 151.

The statute in question does provide that when it appears from the complaint or evidence is submitted to

the magistrate that the accused is likely to escape from the county before such approval can be had, a warrant may issue without such approval. But we submit that the complaint does not disclose the whereabouts of the defendant or that he was likely to escape. Neither is there any evidence in the record which discloses such fact. In fact the statement of the County Attorney discloses that at the time the complaint was made, the defendant was in the State of Montana, and thus the exception in the statute was not applicable.

This question was squarely before this Court in the case of Green vs State, supra, and this Court held that the defect was waived because not timely objected to. In Morse vs State, supra, this Court held that prohibition was not the proper remedy to reach this question.

The other Utah cases cited in support of this proposition are cases decided by this Court at the time when informations were required to be filed and prosecutions conducted in the District Courts, by the County Attorneys. In the cases cited the District Attorney filed informations for the prosecution of the defendants involved and in each case, this Court held that an information signed by the District Attorney was a complete nullity, and

could not give the court jurisdiction of the offense.

In State vs Buker, supra, this Court said:

"The record shows that the District Attorney did file the information. This that officer had no authority to do, and therefore the court acquired no jurisdiction of the cause and its judgment is void."

Since those decisions were rendered the Legislature amended the statutes placing the duty to prosecute crimes in the District Courts on the District Attorneys and there is no provision in the present statutes which authorizes the District Attorneys to file complaints in inferior courts.

In the case of Fullingin vs State, supra, it appears that the County Attorney was going to be absent for a while and signed a number of complaints and left them with the Clerk of the Court to be filled in as need may arise. One of these complaints was filled in by the Clerk and a warrant issued thereon for the arrest of the defendant. The defendant moved to quash the complaint for this reason, which motion was denied, and the defendant convicted. In reversing the conviction, the Court said, at page 559:

"...the motion should have been sustained, and the county judge should have then and there issued a legal warrant for his arrest. In Bowen vs State, supra, it was said, 'We have no discretion, except to hold that the court had not

acquired jurisdiction of the person of defendant, and that his trial was therefore illegal. This is the plain statute law of this state, and by it we are bound, whether we like it or not."

When the instant case reached the District Court, the defendant filed his motion to quash, R 17. This motion was repeated at the close of the state's case, B 353, and again after both sides rested, B 698, and in his motion for Arrest of Judgment, R 124.

With reference to this question, the trial court said, B 358:

"As to the other matters, I want to state something for the record. The signature of the District Attorney on the complaint, I think, is a nullity. However, the statute, as I recall it, permits a City Judge to issue a complaint without the approval of the County Attorney, and if that statute is constitutional, then it's this court's opinion that the attack on the complaint is not well taken."

There is no mention of a City Judge, as such, in the statute, but as pointed out above, the statute does provide that a magistrate may issue a warrant without the approval of the County Attorney under certain conditions, as herein pointed out.

Even if the statute did authorize the issuance of the complaint and warrant without such approval, in this case, Judge Rich did not attempt to exercise that

prerogative. His own version of the matter, as pointed out herein, seems to be that the County Attorney could issue the complaint and approve the same by remote control.

As pointed out by the Court in the Oklahoma case, and by Judge Jones in this case, it would have been a simple matter for the County Attorney to have dismissed this questionable complaint and started all over again in a constitutional manner without doing violence to the constitutional rights of the defendant, but for reasons best known to him, the County Attorney takes the position that in this case, he may disregard the statute and proceed in his own way at his own personal convenience, and in this we respectfully submit that under the Constitution of this State and the Constitution of the United States, this procedure is a complete nullity and that neither the City Court nor the District Court acquired jurisdiction over the defendant or the subject matter.

In *Beasley vs State*, *supra*, the Oklahoma Court repeated:

"Under the rule announced in the cases above cited, the plaintiff in error was not properly before the court, and no jurisdiction to hear and determine the matter presented had been acquired of the person of the plaintiff in

error. We therefore respectfully suggest that this case should be reversed."

II.

In a criminal prosecution the burden is on the State to prove the venue of the Court in which the trial is held

Utah Constitution, Art. I, Section 12
Utah Code, 1953, Section 77-8-5
Criminal Law, 22 C.J.S., Secs. 108 and 127
Nichols Applied Evidence, Vol. 4, p. 3170
State vs U. P., 130 NW 277
State vs Davis, 115 NW 150
Leonard vs State, 93 SO 56
Britton vs State, 74 SO 721
O'Neal vs State, 188 P 1092
State vs Rigley, 240 P 859
Brockway vs State, 138 NE 88
State vs Harvey, 242 P 440
State vs Ducolon, 201 P 627
State vs Wheaton, 99 P 1132
Tate vs People, 247 P 2nd 665
Brunson vs State, 115 P 606
State vs Siepert, 225 P 135
Mullikin vs State, 163 P 1113
Young vs State, 232 P 447
People vs LeBeau, 187 NW 252
State vs Erwin, 101 U. 365

Section 77-8-5 of the Utah Code provides:

"The jurisdiction of a criminal action for murder or manslaughter, when the injury which caused death was inflicted in one county and the party injured dies in another, or out of the state, is in the county where the injury was inflicted."

In this case there were 148 pages of testimony taken at the preliminary, R 149 to 297, and at the trial in the District Court there were 714 pages of testimony, and in all of this evidence, I hereby challenge the Attorney

General to point out one scintilla of evidence wherein it can be said that the bullet that killed the deceased was fired in Cache County, Utah. There just isn't any such evidence in the entire record.

The only witness produced by the State that was qualified to express an opinion on this subject was Dr. C. J. Daines, who examined the body of the deceased at the point where it was found in North Logan and after describing the condition of the body and giving his opinion as to the cause of death, testified as follows, B 41:

"Q. Do you know when that body arrived at the scene where you found it?

A. No.

Q. Do you know whether it was dead or alive when arrived there?

A. Yes, I'm certain that the body was dead when it arrived at the place.

Q. You don't know what place it was when it received these wounds you've described?

A. I did not.

Q. You couldn't say that those wounds and bullet, both the skull fracture and the bullet wound, was received in Cache County, could you?

A. No, I couldn't.

Q. Would you say that the wound that caused death was an instant death?

A. Yes.

Q. There wasn't any lingering after those wounds were inflicted?

A. No.

Q. So wherever those wounds were inflicted, that's the place where the death occurred, isn't it?

A. That's right. That is, you mean the one that caused the death?

Q. Yes.

A. That's right."

On redirect examination the doctor testified, B 44:

"Q. Now, Doctor, you testified that the man was dead at that place, on cross examination?

A. That is---

Q. That is, was dead at that place in North Logan when he was placed there?

A. He was dead when I arrived.

Q. When you arrived?

A. That's right.

Q. Do you have any idea whether or not he was killed at that place?

A. I think I testified I didn't think he was killed there. I'm sure he wasn't killed there.

Q. And what led you to believe that?

A. Because there was no blood on the ground, and the wound he received, there would have been considerable bleeding.

Q. You did not observe any blood on the ground?

A. No blood on the ground whatever."

This is the only evidence in the entire record that touches on the subject of where the deceased met his death, and this evidence affirmatively shows that the deceased did not meet his death at the place where his body was found in North Logan, Utah.

Querrie? Where was the deceased killed? Did he receive that mortal gunshot wound at any place in Cache County, Utah?

It is the position of appellant that the burden rests with the State to prove, by some evidence, that that wound was inflicted some where in Cache County, Utah, and on this point, the evidence is void.

On this point there seems to be three lines of authority. (1) The burden is on the State to prove venue beyond a reasonable doubt. (2) The burden is on the State to prove venue by satisfactory evidence. And a third line of cases that hold that venue may be assumed from other facts and circumstances in the case. But the authorities are unanimous in holding that the State is required to prove its venue by one method or the other.

In State vs Erwin, supra, this Court indicated that venue should be proven beyond a reasonable doubt by its criticism of the following instruction, given by the trial court:

"You must find from the facts in evidence, from which it may be reasonably inferred that the offense was committed in Salt Lake County."

This Court said the above instruction was not a correct statement of the law, but did not define the law on this point, stating that there was no dispute about the offense being committed in Salt Lake County, if it was committed at all.

Under the Title Criminal Law, 22 C.J.S. 184, Sec. 108, it is said:

"Jurisdiction is a fundamental prerequisite to a valid prosecution and a usurpation thereof is a nullity. Hence, the primary question for determination by the court in any case is whether or not it has jurisdiction."

And again, at page 211, Section 127, the same author says:

"...as shown in Section 108, supra, jurisdiction of the offense is essential to the validity of a criminal prosecution."

Nichols Applied Evidence, Volume 4, page 3170, it is said:

"The state must prove not only the commission of the offense, but also, is commission within the territorial jurisdiction of the court where the indictment is found."

In State vs U. P., supra, the Nebraska Supreme Court laid the rule down in the following language:

"The fact of venue in a criminal case is an essential averment to be established by the prosecution beyond a reasonable doubt."

A majority of the courts seem to follow the Nebraska rule, some of which are cited in this brief.

Oklahoma is one of the states that adheres to the liberal rule and allows convictions on slight or circumstantial evidence, and in that state, in the case of Young vs State, supra, the court said, page 448:

"While it has been held in several cases that the venue of the offense need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, that does not imply that venue can be established without any proof whatever, or upon mere conjecture or suspicion."

In this case the defendant was convicted of the crime of aiding his son to escape jail in Blaine County as a fugitive from justice, and the facts were substantially as follows: The defendant's son and another were awaiting trial in Blaine County jail on a charge of robbery and they escaped. Three witnesses testified that they knew the defendant and his son and that they saw the son and

the other escapee on the running board of defendant's car, going in a certain direction, near Elreno, Oklahoma. The defendant and his witnesses denied this and explained who the people were that was on the running board of his car and why they were on there. In analyzing this evidence, the court said:

"Assuming that this defendant did, on that occasion, convey his son and this negro in this roadster, or on the running boards thereof, for the purpose of aiding them to escape as fugitives from justice, there is no showing anywhere in the record that any part of the transportation took place in Blaine County. This court will take judicial notice that Kingfisher is the county seat of Kingfisher County and that Elreno is the county seat of Canadian County, and that both are populous towns and railroad centers. It follows, therefore, that, if the defendant did aid these fugitives to escape, he may have picked them up in Kingfisher or some other place in Kingfisher County, or in Elreno or some other place in Canadian County. There is nothing in the record to indicate that any part of the transportation of these fugitives, if they were indeed transported by this defendant, occurred in Blaine County; and this court would not be justified in assuming that such was the case."

We have set forth the testimony of the doctor in this case which shows affirmatively that the deceased was dead when his body was dumped at the place where it was found in North Logan. Again I challenge the Attorney General to point out the evidence that establishes the place where the shot was fired. This court can take

judicial notice that Logan, Utah is located about 15 to 20 miles from the border of the State of Idaho, about a 25 minute drive in an ordinary automobile. Was the deceased shot to death in Idaho and the body driven to North Logan and unloaded? Was the deceased shot to death in Box Elder or Weber County, or either of them, and driven to North Logan and dumped? No one knows, and certainly the evidence does not indicate, and we respectfully submit that the court cannot assume that the shot was fired in Cache County. Such an assumption would be an usurpation of jurisdiction as indicated by the author in C.J.S. cited above.

In Tate vs People, supra, the Colorado Court said:

"The question of venue when raised in a criminal prosecution is issue to be determined the same as any other issue in the case."

In Idaho, State vs Seipert, supra, the court says:

"The venue of an offense must be laid in the information and proven as any other material allegation."

Oregon says, State vs Harvey, supra:

"Venue is a material allegation of the complaint to be proved beyond reasonable doubt."

State vs Wheaton, supra, is a Kansas case where the defendant was charged with committing an abortion, in

"Several assignment of error have been presented, but in our view the case must be disposed of upon a single one, and no other need be considered. The information charges that the offense was committed in Allen County, Kansas. This allegation was not supported by any evidence whatever. This is a material allegation. The jurisdiction of the court depended upon the fact averred. The most that can be said for the testimony upon this subject is that it tends to support the inference that the death of the deceased was the result of a miscarriage or abortion. How this was produced, whether by natural or artificial means, is not shown. When or where it occurred does not appear; nor is there any evidence from which either of these material facts may be inferred... In our view this offense is committed wherever the prohibited means are used, and a defendant can only be tried for the crime at that place."

Montana seems to adhere to the liberal view on this question, but in *State vs Ducolon*, supra, it reversed a conviction where there was no evidence at all showing where the offense was committed.

We contend that Section 77-8-5 is conclusive and controlling as to the place where this offense should be tried. It specifically says that in cases of murder or manslaughter the venue is in the county where the injury was inflicted, and thus there is no room for the theory of the trial court, that it may have been a question of boundary lines between counties or states. Certainly there is no evidence that indicates that the shot that

killed deceased was fired on a county or a state line.

We close this discussion by citing one more Oklahoma case, *Brunson vs State*, supra, the opinion is short and we quote it in full:

"PER CURIAM. In this case there was no attempt made on the part of the state to prove venue. The name of the building and name and number of the street where the alleged offense was to have been committed are mentioned; but no proof as to the city, town or county in which said offense was committed was offered. Courts will not take judicial notice of names of buildings or names and numbers of streets. This case is reversed solely on the ground venue was not proven."

III.

The presumption of ownership arising from possession cannot be indulged in a criminal proceeding in opposition to the presumption of innocence.

Criminal Law, 16 C.J. 542, Sec. 1033
State vs Roswell, 133 SW 99
State vs Martin, 164 P 500
Smith vs Hansen, 96 P 1087

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