1954

State of Utah v. Charles Lee Mitchell : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COMPLAINT WAS LAWFUL.

Defendant's first point is directed at the complaint filed before the Logan City Judge, Jesse P. Rich. The document appears in the record at R. 2. Defendant's argument is that it was approved by the District Attorney rather than the County Attorney, and is therefore void. The proposition is apparently based on Sec. 77-12-1, U.C.A. 1953, which defendant cites. The section reads:

When a verified complaint is made before a magistrate charging the commission of a crime or public offense, he must, if satisfied therefrom that the offense complained of has been committed and that there is reasonable ground to believe that the accused committed it, issue a warrant for his arrest; but when the magistrate before whom the complaint is made is a justice of the peace, before issuing the warrant, the complaint, if made by any person other than the county attorney of the county, and the evidence taken by such magistrate relating to the offense charged, must be submitted to such county attorney, and he must examine into the charge and enter either his approval or disapproval of the issuance of a warrant upon such complaint. If the county attorney disapproves, no warrant shall be issued, but if he approves the issuance of a warrant, such magistrate shall proceed accordingly; provided, that when it appears from the complaint or evidence submitted to the magistrate that the accused is likely to escape from the county before such approval of the county attorney can be had, a warrant may issue without the approval

of the county attorney. No justice of the peace shall receive any fees or allowances whatever for any act done or services rendered in a criminal action or proceeding commenced or prosecuted in disregard of the provisions of this section.

The section does not apply to this case. What the statute says is that where a complaint is heard by a justice of the peace, the County Attorney must also approve before an arrest is ordered. The reason for the statute is that justices of the peace are not required by law to be lawyers, as are all other magistrates (Supreme Court Justices, by Art. VIII, § 2, Utah Const.; District Judges, by Art. VIII, § 5, Utah Const.; City Judges, by Sec. 78-4-8, U.C.A. 1953). The legislature apparently thought it appropriate that an additional check be placed upon the exercise of the power of a magistrate by a justice of the peace.

The complaint here involved was sworn to before the City Judge of Logan; it was not made before a justice of the peace. This means that neither the District Attorney nor the County Attorney need have approved the complaint. This is the view taken by the trial judge (B. 358), and it seems clearly correct.

Respondent contends further that the District Attorney has power to sign in the County Attorney's stead, if the latter is not available. Such authorization is contained in Sec. 67-7-4, U.C.A. 1953, which reads:

The district attorney shall, when it does not conflict with other official duties, attend to all legal business required of him in his district by

the attorney general, without charge, when the interests of the state are involved. All the duties and powers of public prosecutor shall be assumed and discharged by the district attorney, except in cases of prosecutions for misdemeanors, and preliminary examinations before justices of the peace, but the district attorney may, whenever he deems it necessary, appear and prosecute for misdemeanors, and in preliminary examinations before justices of the peace and other magistrates.

Further, the statute at issue is a part of Ch. 12, of Title 77, which chapter deals with the warrant of arrest and not at all with what is required for a valid complaint. Defendant has not referred to Ch. 11, the chapter in the Code of Criminal Procedure dealing with complaints. The question raised simply goes to the propriety of the warrant. The validity of the complaint, and jurisdiction of the defendant and the cause, are unaffected.

Neither *State v. Greene*, 78 U. 580, 6 P. 2d 177, nor *State v. Morse*, 27 U. 336, 75 P. 739, cited by defendant, reaches the proposition which defendant urges, and neither case contains even a comment about it one way or another. *State v. Morrey*, 23 U. 273, 64 P. 764; *State v. Beddo*, 22 U. 432, 63 P. 96, and *State v. Baker*, 23 U. 276, 64 P. 1118, are not in point. Those cases each involved a prosecution commenced by an information filed by the district attorney pursuant to a statutory procedure later held to be unconstitutional.

Fullingin v. State (Okla. 1912), 123 P. 558, is an Oklahoma bootlegging case cited and quoted by defendants. There the county attorney had signed, in blank, a

number of informations. A clerk would fill these in, then issue a warrant of arrest, without the knowledge of the county judge or the county attorney. Such a procedure was of course held improper. The case is not remotely like the case at bar, however.

POINT II.

VENUE WAS CORRECTLY LAID IN CACHE COUNTY.

Defendant's second point charges error in that there was failure to prove venue. The claim is that there was no evidence that the fatal shot was fired in Cache County.

At the outset, respondent disagrees with defendant's statement of the relevant law. In some states, the rule is that venue must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *People v. Gregor*, 359 Ill. 402, 194 N.E. 550; *State v. Miller*, 133 Ore. 256, 289 P. 1063; *Bridges v. State*, 72 Ga. App. 390, 33 S.E. 2d 850; *State v. Wiedenfeld*, 229 Wis. 563, 282 N.W. 621; *Mayes v. State*, 22 Ala. App. 316, 115 S. 291; *State v. Schroyer*, 66 Ohio App. 30, 31 N.E. 2d 469.

On the other hand, a mere preponderance of evidence has been held sufficient to establish venue in *Stribling v. State*, 171 Ark. 184, 284 S.W. 38; *Skipper v. State*, 114 Fla. 312, 153 S. 853; *People v. Vincencio*, 71 Cal. App. 2d, 361, 162 P. 2d 650; *Davis v. State*, 75 Okla. Cr. 220, 130 P. 2d 111; *Barragan v. State*, 141 Tex. Cr. 12, 147

S.W. 2d 254; *Stinson v. State*, 181 Tenn. 172, 180 S.W. 2d 883, and *State v. Kinkaid*, 69 Wash. 273, 124 P. 684. In Kentucky, "slight" proof is enough. *Commonwealth v. Duvall*, 220 Ky. 771, 295 S.W. 1047; *Gee v. Commonwealth*, 263 Ky. 808, 94 S.W. 2d 17.

The better reasoned cases adopt the view that venue is not an element of a crime in the same sense that malice, for example, is an element of a murder, and therefore hold that venue need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. A California court in *People v. Harkness* (1942), 124 P. 2d 85, has this to say on the subject (124 P. 2d, at 88):

As was said by this court in *People v. Carter*, 10 Cal. App. 2d 387, 52 P. 2d 294, 295, "The state gives no assurance to its feloniously insubordinate citizens that the venue of their crimes will be fixed beyond a reasonable doubt; that doctrine applies only to the issue of guilt. *People v. McGill*, [10 Cal. App. 2d 155, at page 159], 51 P. 2d 433; *Underhill on Criminal Evidence*, vol. I, § 36, p. 45. The defendant and appellant, therefore, is in no position to complain because the location of the offense was not established to a degree of certainty more to his liking."

In all the states, regardless of the required quantum of proof, circumstantial evidence of venue is sufficient, and direct evidence is not required. This is the Utah rule. *State v. Greene*, 38 U. 389, 115 P. 181.

This court dealt with a venue problem in *State v. Greene*, 38 U. 389, 115 P. 181, which was an adultery prosecution tried in Sanpete County. There was no

direct proof of venue. The court held, however, that venue could be inferred from this evidence: defendant and the girl lived in Mt. Pleasant, in the same house with defendant's wife; the parties had not left the county during the critical period except for brief visits. The girl left for California where a baby was born. There she made affidavit that defendant was the father, and that sexual intercourse had taken place in Mt. Pleasant. On being shown the affidavit defendant said, "I don't believe the baby is mine." This court construed that statement as being an admission of the intercourse, at Mt. Pleasant, and hence an admission of venue. It should be noted that the girl's affidavit was hearsay, and was admitted only for the limited purpose of forming a basis for defendant's admission. The substance of the affidavit was not considered as to the venue problem.

In *State v. Marasco*, 81 U. 325, 17 P. 2d 919, venue was established on slighter evidence. The charge was arson. The proof was that the building was: "located in the outskirts of Helper, not in the main business part of town"; that the defendant's place of business was "the west side of Helper, Bryner subdivision." The finding of venue was affirmed. This court reasoned that judicial knowledge placed Helper in Carbon County—this despite the fact that the jury were not so instructed.

See also *State v. Campbell* (Utah, 1949), 208 P. 2d 530.

Based upon the foregoing authorities, it is submitted that the rules controlling the venue of criminal

trials in Utah are: (1) that venue may be established by a preponderance of evidence, and need not be shown beyond a reasonable doubt; and (2) that venue may be inferred from circumstantial evidence and need not be shown by direct proof.

It should be noted that there is present here a jury finding of venue. A reading of the transcript indicates that defendant's counsel made this issue sharply clear to the jury. Defendant was found guilty under Instruction Twelve (R. 109) which defined second degree murder. The trial court by this instruction, and by Instruction Seventeen, imposed upon the prosecutor the burden of proving venue beyond a reasonable doubt, which in respondent's view was more than what the law requires. The only remaining question is whether the finding is within the bounds of reasonable inference.

Defendant makes much of Dr. Daines' theory that Martin was killed at a place other than where he was found (B. 41, 45). The doctor's evidence indicates that his idea was based upon the absence of blood on the ground. He testified (B. 45, line 8):

Q. And what led you to believe that [Martin was killed elsewhere] ?

A. Because there was no blood on the ground, and the wound he received, there would have had to be considerable bleeding.

Q. You did not observe any blood on the ground?

A. No blood on the ground whatever.

The significance of this passage is that it shows that the basis of his conjecture was an observable physical fact—the presence or absence of blood. The validity of the doctor's conjecture depends upon the validity of his factual observation.

The preponderance of evidence (as the jury evidently believed) is that there was blood on the ground. Deputy Rowley said that when the body was moved there was blood on the ground, under Martin's head and chest (B. 60). Deputy Sorenson observed a 4 to 5 inch spot of blood on the leaves and dirt directly under the wound (B. 72). Deputy Rowley also testified that he dug some soil from underneath Martin's body which had blood on it (B. 345). This witness stuck by his story despite defense counsel's attempt to get him to say that it may have been red paint, or rabbit's blood (B. 346). The soil was received as Exh. 41.

It is to be noted that these witnesses had a better opportunity to examine the premises than did Dr. Daines, whose function was simply to examine the body. The law is clear that a lay witness can distinguish, and testify about, blood stains. 20 Am. Jur., Evidence, Sec. 887.

Taken altogether, the evidence supports a finding that the killing occurred in Cache County. That was where the body was found, and the jury could well have considered the natural inclination of one who has killed a man, and who has custody of the victim's car, with the victim in it, to get rid of the body quickly. The poor

concealment of the body, and the running over its foot with the car, indicate that it was gotten rid of with some haste. The body was not carried for any great distance after death because it was still bleeding when it was thrown where it was found. Death occurred instantaneously. This is sufficient evidence for a valid jury finding of venue.

Marion v. State (Neb., 1886), 29 N.W. 911, holds that the place where a body is found is a factor from which may be inferred the locality of the homicide. There, the defendant and deceased left Kansas with a team and wagon, which belonged to deceased but which defendant was buying from him. Defendant had bought and repaired a pistol to take on the trip. They were seen in Gage County, Nebraska, and from there they “went west”. Defendant returned to Kansas within a short time with the team and wagon, wearing some of deceased’s clothes. He said he had been in Kansas. Deceased’s body was later found in Gage County, Nebraska, with a bullet in the skull cavity.

To defendant’s requested instruction that proof of the killing in Gage County had to be shown beyond reasonable doubt, the trial court added:

But the place where the remains were found, if found at all, may be taken into consideration, together with all other evidence, in fixing the locality of the homicide, if there was a homicide.

The full instruction, and the finding of venue, were affirmed.

In *Commonwealth v. Costley* (Mass., 1875), 118 Mass. 1, defendant shot Julia Hawkes, tied a carriage robe around her head, and weighted the body with a 24 lb. tailor's goose tied around the neck. The body was deposited near a bridge in Fore River, Norfolk County, about 2½ to 3½ miles from the next county. One of the court's syllabi states:

The finding of a human body, with marks upon it of injuries sufficient to cause death, in a river in the heart of a county, in such a situation and condition as to show that it must have been thrown there by the hand of man and not borne there by the force of the stream or current, is sufficient to warrant the jury in finding that the homicide was committed in that county.

In *People v. Latona*, 2 Cal. 2d 714, 43 P. 2d 260, the court stated:

Appellant's final point is that the venue was not proved, and it is suggested that the murder might as well have been committed in Arizona and the body brought to where it was found. The coagulated blood on the ground underneath the head of deceased dispels the suggestions that the deceased was killed at some remote place, and the point is therefore without merit.

It is submitted that the evidence of venue detailed above is sufficient basis for the jury's finding. The proof is stronger than in the cited cases. The argument of defendant is a dangerous argument. The contention, essentially, comes down to this, that since no eye-witness saw where defendant killed Martin, defendant must go

free. Plainly, the law should not be so helpless, and respondent believes that it is not. Defendant's complaint about improper venue is not justified.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING EXHIBITS 2, 8, AND 9.

In his Point III, defendant complains about the admission of Exhibits 2, 8, and 9, which are papers pertaining to the title of Fred Martin's automobile. The papers were found in Martin's wallet. Defendant's argument is that the presumption of ownership arising from Martin's possession of the papers is over-borne by the presumption of innocence which favors defendant. Defendant's objection is not well taken. The ownership of the automobile was not at issue. What was sought to be proved was simply that the man in whose wallet the papers were found was named Fred Martin. The papers in his wallet are perfectly admissible for that purpose.

Defendant's citation to 16 C.J. 542, Sec. 1033, deals with problems arising in criminal cases where some presumption comes into operation which conflicts with the presumption of innocence. In view of the fact that there is no presumption here respecting Martin's guilt or innocence, respondent cannot see how the citation is helpful.

Smith v. Hanson, 34 U. 171, 96 P. 1087, and *State v. Martin*, 49 U. 346, 164 P. 500, are also cited by defendant.

Those cases involve the admission of samples of a witness's handwriting as a standard of comparison with other handwriting of disputed authenticity. The cases are not in point.

At all events, these papers are but one minor item in a mass of proof as to Martin's identity. Exhibit 1, a photograph of the murdered man, was identified by Jesse R. Kyle. Defendant himself, as a witness, identified the same photograph and admitted that he and "Pops" were in Ogden together (B. 489). Charles Williams, DeWitt Taylor, and Herman Smith also identified Martin by the use of the photograph of the body. Respondent is at a loss to see how admission of the evidence complained about in this point could have any prejudicial effect upon the result of the trial or the outcome of this appeal.

POINT IV.

ADMISSION OF THE EVIDENCE OF THE WITNESS CLAUDE HOLMES WAS CORRECT IN THAT (A) THE RULE EXCLUDING PROOF OF ANOTHER OFFENSE IS NOT INVOLVED; (B) PROOF OF MOTIVE IS ADMISSIBLE; (C) VIOLATION OF THE EXCLUSION RULE WAS NOT A BAR TO HIS TESTIMONY.

Defendant assigns as error the admission of evidence that he was involved in an altercation arising out of a dice game in a Blackfoot hotel. During the fracas defendant fired his pistol at Emmet Jones. This proof

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